Saline versus Lactated Ringer's Solution: The SOLAR fluid trial

An Anesthesia Institute Quality Improvement Project

Principal Investigator:

Kamal Maheshwari, MD; Staff Anesthesiologist, General Anesthesia, Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute, Cleveland Clinic, 9500 Euclid Avenue / E-31, Cleveland, OH 44195, Phone 216.445.4311, Fax 216.444.9247, MAHESHK@ccf.org.

Co-Investigators:

Daniel Sessler, MD; Chair, Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute, Cleveland Clinic, 9500 Euclid Avenue / E-31, Cleveland, OH 44195, DS@OR.org.

Andrea Kurz MD, Chair, General Anesthesia, Anesthesiology Institute Ehab Farag MD, GENA Belinda Udeh, Ph.D., M.P.H. Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute Edward Mascha, Ph.D. Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute Nicole Zimmerman, M.S. Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute Wael Ali Sakr MD, Orthopedic Anesthesia Carlos Higuera-Rueda MD, Orthopedic surgery Kopyeva Tatyana MD, Colorectal Anesthesia Luca Stocchi MD, Colorectal surgery

Coordinators:

Joseph Saxon, Graduate student Bianka Nguyen, Graduate Student

Study Site(s): Cleveland Clinic Main Campus Protocol Version: 3.0 Protocol Date: September 25, 2017

Table of Contents

Background	
Animal studies	4
Human studies	4
Objectives and Hypotheses	7
Outcomes	7
Methods	8
Protocol	
Measurements	9
Primary outcome	9
Secondary outcomes	10
Tertiary outcomes	10
Data Analysis	11
Sample size	14
Human subjects	16
Significance	17
References	18
Appendices	22
Data Sources	22
A. AKIN criteria	22
B. Major Post-operative Complications	23
C. Colorectal surgery postoperative complication data set	25
D. Data sources for exploratory outcomes	26
Potential confounding factors	27

Background

About 51 million inpatient surgeries were performed in United States in 2010, based on National Hospital Discharge Survey.¹ Nearly all operations require intravenous (IV) fluids for drug administration and vascular volume repletion. Mismanagement of fluid administration — in volume, type, or timing — may cause postoperative complications and worsen survival.² Complications are in fact common, with as many as half of high-risk surgical patients experiencing substantive morbidity.^{3,4}

Many IV fluid preparations are currently used and how best to manage perioperative fluids remain controversial.⁵⁻⁷ For example, when to use crystalloid fluids and when to use colloids remains unclear. And even within the crystalloid category, there are two general types of fluids: non-buffered (saline) and buffered solutions (lactated Ringer's and similar mixtures, Table 1). Both buffered and unbuffered solutions remain in common use worldwide. In United States, saline is the most commonly used fluid, more than 200 million liters/yr, Also, intraoperative use of saline is 30 times more common than balanced solutions.⁸

Type of Fluid*	Sodium mmol/L	Potassium mmol/L	Chloride mmol/L	Osmolarity mosm/L	Weight average Mol Wt kD	Plasma volume expansion duration hrs+
Plasma	136-145	3.5-5.0	98-105	280-300	-	-
5% Dextrose	0	0	0	278	-	-
Dextrose 4% saline 0.18%	30	0	30	283	-	-
0.9% "normal" saline	154	0	154	308	-	0.2
0.45% "half normal" saline	77	0	77	154	-	-
Ringer's Lactate	130	4	109	273	-	0.2
Hartmann's	131	5	111	275	-	0.2
Gelatine 4%	145	0	145	290	30,000	1-2
5% albumin	150	0	150	300	68,000	2-4
20% albumin	-	-	-	-	68,000	2-4
HES 6% 130/0.4	154	0	154	308	130,000	4-8
HES 10% 200/0.5	154	0	154	308	200,000	6-12
HES 6% 450/0.6	154	0	154	308	450,000	24-36

Table 1: Typical properties of commonly used intravenous solutions (NICE)9

3

While enormous (supra-clinical) volumes of saline provoke substantial hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis,10-13 typical perioperative volumes have little effect and have never been convincingly linked to important morbidity.14,15 As might thus be expected, a recent Cochrane review reported that major morbidity and mortality were comparable with each type of fluid although saline-based fluids provoked mild and transient hyperchloremia and metabolic acidosis.16

Animal studies

In a hemorrhagic swine model, resuscitation with 256 ± 145 mL/kg of normal saline compared to 126 ± 67 mL/kg lactated Ringer's resulted in significantly lower fibrinogen concentrations: 99 ± 21 mg/dL versus 123 ± 20 mg/dL, p = 0.02. (Both are huge volumes.) Serum lactate was 4.7 ± 2.2 mg/dl in the lactated Ringer's group versus 1.7 ± 1.7 mg/dl in swine given normal saline at the end of the study (p < 0.01). The authors concluded that resuscitation of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock with normal saline requires significantly greater volume and is associated with greater urine output, hyperchloremic acidosis, and dilutional coagulopathy than with lactated Ringer's solution.17

In another pig hemorrhagic model for trauma resuscitation (N=20), the authors concluded normal saline may be inferior to lactated Ringer's solution due to vasodilatory effects, metabolic acidosis and hyperkalemia.₁₈ Both these studies showed that normal saline is inferior to lactated Ringer's for resuscitation in hemorrhagic animal models. But in both, the swine were given many times more fluid than would be used during normal surgery.

In contrast to the results summarized above, Watters et al evaluated inflammatory markers and tissue mRNA concentrations of interleukin-6 (IL-6), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) in swine model of hemorrhagic shock. They found no substantive differences in any marker in animals resuscitated with lactated Ringer's or normal saline.¹⁹ Zhou et al compared balanced electrolyte solution (Plasma-Lyte) with 0.9% saline, for resuscitation in rat sepsis model and reported significantly greater blood chloride concentrations, decreased pH, and exaggerated base excess. But in healthy animals, there was no difference between the fluids and no increase in acute kidney injury.²⁰

Human studies

In a prospective open-label, sequential-period pilot study, chloride-rich intravenous fluids (0.9% saline, 4% succinylated gelatin solution, or 4% albumin solution) when

compared to chloride-poor (lactated Ringer's, Plasma-Lyte 148, and chloride-poor 20% albumin) solutions was associated with a significant decrease in the incidence of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) and use of Renal Replacement Therapy (RRT) in critically ill patients.²¹ In another retrospective study of the Premier Perspective Database, use of calcium-free balanced crystalloid for replacement of fluid losses on the day of major surgery was associated with less postoperative morbidity and fivefold less risk of use of dialysis than normal saline.⁸

In contrast, a retrospective cohort study comparing buffered fluids with saline, (N = 6,730) showed that buffered fluids were associated with lower in-hospital mortality (19.6% vs 22.8%; relative risk, 0.86; 95% CI: 0.78, 0.94). But the authors did not find significant differences in the prevalence of acute kidney injury, with or without renal replacement therapy, or in-hospital or ICU lengths of stay.₂₂

In an another retrospective study of ICU patients (N = 172) recovering from major abdominal surgery, post-operative acidosis was associated with longer intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital length of stay (LOS). Large volumes of normal saline were associated with hyperchloremic acidosis whereas large volumes of lactated Ringer's solution were associated with lactic acidosis.₂₃ Even in critical care settings, it remains unclear whether buffered solutions are preferable by normal saline.

There is even less evidence directly comparing perioperative use of normal saline and lactated Ringer's solution. For example, O'Malley et al compared used of normal saline with lactated Ringer's in renal transplant surgery and reported no significant difference in renal function, although lactated Ringer's solution caused less hypokalemia and acidosis.²⁴ In abdominal aortic aneurysm repairs, use of normal saline had little impact on outcome as assessed by duration of mechanical ventilation, intensive care unit stay, hospital stay, and postoperative complications. However, perioperative blood loss was greater with saline than lactated Ringer's solution.²⁵

In healthy adults, differences consequent to fluid choice are almost nonexistent and clinically irrelevant. Williams et al found no significant differences in serum sodium, potassium, urea, or osmolality in healthy adults given a 2-liter bolus of either normal saline or balanced Hartman's solution.₂₆ Similarly, large volumes of lactated Ringer's solution given to healthy humans provokes a small and transient reduction in serum osmolality, whereas osmolality was preserved when large volumes of sodium chloride were given.₂₇ Some clinicians are concerned about mixing lactated Ringer's with blood because calcium in the solution might activate the coagulation system. However, breakdown products of thrombin generation are below physiologic value when blood is mixed with either normal saline or lactated Ringer's solution.₂₈ Specifically, the threshold value for ionized calcium that potentially activates clotting (0.23 mM/L) is not reached if the RBC-to- lactated Ringer's volume ratio exceeds 2:1.₂₉ Furthermore, there is no significant difference between infusion time, filtered particulates, or clot formation when either lactated Ringer's solution or normal saline were given rapidly.₃₀

Lactated Ringer's has been studied in renal transplant surgery and authors found hyperkalemia and acidosis was more frequent in normal saline group whereas thrombotic complication were more in lactated Ringer's group.³¹ O'Malley et al compared used of normal saline with lactated Ringer's in renal transplant surgery and reported no significant difference in renal function, although lactated Ringer's solution caused less hyperkalemia and acidosis.²⁴

The potential conversion of lactate to glucose via the Cori cycle has been the proposed mechanism of hyperglycemia.³² However, a recent study demonstrated that perioperative glycemic control is comparable after administration of lactated Ringer's solution or normal saline.³³

In a recent observational study comparing saline with calcium free balanced solutions, the use of saline was associated with significantly greater morbidity and mortality.³⁴ Cardiac complications were significantly higher in the saline group whereas no difference in kidney injury was noted. Cardiac complications and specifically myocardial injury after noncardiac surgery (MINS) are associated with significant postoperative mortality. ³⁵ 36

In summary, no compelling studies identify substantive harm from use of normal saline rather than lactated Ringer's solution in routine clinical practice or in the perioperative setting. Consequently, Guidet et al concluded that there is no convincing evidence that the mild hyperchloremic acidosis that occurs with infusion of normal saline is associated with detrimental effects on renal function, coagulation status, need for blood transfusion, and overall morbidity and mortality in perioperative setting.¹⁴ Animal studies and mostly retrospective data suggest that normal saline provokes a mild and transient hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis, which in turn can increase incidence of kidney injury and postoperative morbidity. However, there is no evidence that the mild acidosis that results from

normal saline administration results in kidney injury, especially with volumes used in typical clinical situations.

Objectives and Hypotheses

Perioperative volumes of saline cause a mild acidosis compared with buffered fluids. On the other hand, saline administration maintains plasma osmolality and better repletes vascular volume which is an important goal of perioperative fluid administration. Currently, there is no convincing evidence that either saline or buffered solutions are preferable. Consequently, both types of fluid remain in common use at the Clinic and worldwide.

There has never been a large trial of perioperative saline and balanced salt solutions comparing the incidence of major complications including acute kidney injury. Our primary objective is thus to determine the relative safety of perioperative saline and lactated Ringer's solution. Specifically, we propose to test the:

- 1. Primary hypothesis that a composite of major in-hospital postoperative complications is lower in patients given lactated Ringer's solution compared to normal saline.
- 2. Secondary hypothesis that acute kidney injury, measured by AKIN criteria, is lower in patients given lactated Ringer's solution compared to normal saline.

The acquisition cost of saline and lactated Ringer's solutions is similar in the United States. (Curiously, buffered solutions are far more expensive than saline in Great Britain.) But to the extent that one fluid or the other provokes more complications, cost of care may be increased with that fluid selection. Cost may also be increased by the need for additional electrolyte monitoring and electrolyte replacement.

We will therefore secondarily conduct an economic evaluation to determine the relative incremental hospital cost of each fluid. To the extent that one fluid or the other reduces cost (assuming similar complication rates), the Clinic will be able to reduce cost by specifying the appropriate fluid without impairing quality.

Evidence that one fluid or the other causes few complications would be a strong quality indicator that the Clinic should standardize perioperative fluid selection.

Outcomes

1. Primary: Post-operative morbidity, as assessed by a composite outcome consisting of the following major complication components: renal, respiratory, infectious and hemorrhagic.

2. Secondary:

- a. Acute kidney injury (AKIN criteria);
- b. Economic evaluation.

3. Tertiary:

- a) Blood transfusion;
- b) Number of plasma electrolytes determinations;
- c) Electrolyte replacement (i.e., administration of calcium, magnesium, potassium, or bicarbonate);
- d) Post-operative nausea vomiting.
- e) Myocardial Injury after Noncardiac Surgery
- f) Cardiac complication

Methods

We propose an alternating intervention quality study comparing intraoperative fluid management with normal saline and lactated Ringer's solutions. This general approach to quality questions has been used at the Clinic and shown to produce more reliably clinical guidance than propensity-matched retrospective analyses.³⁷

This project will focus on colorectal and orthopedic surgery because these operations are conducted in physically distinct units that are normally staffed by small groups of anesthesiologists. Furthermore, most of the cases are substantial and require postoperative hospitalization. Both the anesthesia and surgical teams have agreed to the proposed project and representatives are co-investigators.

Protocol

We propose that all orthopedic and colorectal surgery operating rooms will alternate between using either normal saline or lactated Ringer's solution for 2week periods. For example, the first period will use normal saline; the second will use lactated Ringer's, and so on for a maximum total of approximately 36 cycles. Thus, fluid choice will not be randomized on a per-patient or even per-period basis. Patients will not be informed of their group assignments, but will be told what fluids they received in the event they ask. There will be no other restriction on anesthetic management and practitioners will be free to use intravenous anesthetics and neuraxial analgesia per their preference. Intraoperative clinicians will not be blinded to type of crystalloid and will be free to use whichever fluid they deem preferable if clinically indicated. Normal saline will always be available for blood dilution. Crystalloid volume and timing will be determined by the anesthesia care team as usual. Other fluid, blood products, electrolyte replacement will be used at the discretion of anesthesia care team.

Measurements

All study outcomes will be obtained from electronic medical records including demographic and morphometric characteristics. Types of surgery will be characterized from ICD-9 codes using AHRQ Clinical Classifications Software. All routine anesthetic variables, including inspired oxygen fraction and expired carbon dioxide partial pressure, will be recorded per routine by our electronic anesthetic record-keeping system. Preoperative laboratory test, including but not limited to hemoglobin, hematocrit, BUN, creatinine, glucose, electrolytes and blood gas measurements, will be recorded. Transfusions will be recorded. Core temperature will be recorded, and patients will be kept normothermic per routine.

In colorectal surgery database, baseline risk of infection will be gathered evaluated using the Center for Disease Control (CDC) SENIC score, where one point each was assigned for \geq 3 diagnoses, surgical duration \geq 2 h, abdominal site of surgery, and the presence of a contaminated or dirty-infected wound.₃₈ The score will be slightly modified from its original form by our use of admission — rather than discharge — diagnoses.

Infection risk will be further quantified using the National Nosocomial Infection Surveillance System (NNISS), in which risk is predicted based on type of surgery, American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status score, and the duration of surgery.³⁹ Surgical wounds will be considered infected when they met the 1992 revision⁴⁰ of the CDC criteria for surgical wounds originally proposed in 1987.⁴¹ These data will be obtained from the Department of Colorectal Surgery registry and from orthopedic surgery departments, where they are recorded per routine.

Primary outcome

1. One or more major complications, including in-hospital mortality, renal (AKIN criteria 2+), respiratory, infectious, and hematological complications.

Our composite of major complications is a modification of a previously published composite used by Bennett₄₂; similar composites have been used in previous fluid management studies.^{8,43-45} Specifically, we selected major complications that were identified as significant (or near-significant) in one of the largest retrospective analyses comparing normal saline to balanced solution that was based on the Premier database.⁸ Major complications and their associated ICD-9 codes are described in the Appendix.

Secondary outcomes

1. Acute kidney injury (AKIN criteria) :

Risk Injury Failure Loss End stage (RIFLE)₄₆ and Acute Kidney Injury Network (AKIN)₄₇ criteria are useful tools to assess kidney injury after surgery.₄₈ Both criteria are sensitive to kidney injury, but in cardiac surgery.₄₉, burn₅₀ patient's AKIN classification correlated better with mortality than did the RIFLE criteria. We will thus quantify kidney injury with AKIN criteria.

2. Economic evaluation:

The cost of care analysis will incorporate only costs directly relevant to the intervention. The costs for each group will be broken into two components: uncomplicated care (standard care), and care of associated complications.

Costs to be included for uncomplicated care will include LOS, electrolyte management, electrolyte replacement, plasma electrolyte determination, and post-operative nausea and vomiting. Costs to be included for associated complications will include the cost to treat any major complications (Table 3), and blood transfusions.

Costs for each outcome will be sourced from Medicare allowable rates for reimbursement, CC billing data and Elsevier Rx Price Verify Database.

Tertiary outcomes

 Blood transfusion: Number of units transfused during hospitalization of red cells, platelets, and fresh-frozen plasma (each considered separately, Table 5); 11

- 2. **Plasma electrolytes determinations**: a count of the number of times blood is drawn for electrolyte determination, for example basic metabolic panel, arterial blood gas analysis, venous blood gas analysis, potassium, magnesium, and calcium determination;
- 3. Administration of calcium, magnesium, potassium, or bicarbonate;
- Postoperative nausea vomiting during PACU (post anesthesia care unit) stay: Postoperative Nursing Progress Record (NPR) - Records nausea vomiting severity as: 0=none, 1= mild, 2=moderate, 3= severe; analysis will compare nausea vomiting (1, 2, 3) to no nausea vomiting (0).
- Myocardial Injury after Noncardiac Surgery₃₅ MINS is defined as at least one postoperative value of fourth-generation troponin T ≥0.03 ng/ml apparently of ischemic origin, in the 3 days after operation. Eligible patients without postoperative cardiac enzyme determinations will be assumed not to have acute myocardial injury.
- 6. Cardiac complication₃₄ See ICD codes appendix E.

We will exclude following patients from analysis as they have medical conditions that can influence outcomes:

- 1. Urgent or emergent surgery;
- 2. ASA physical status 5. That is, patients who are not expected to survive with or without surgery;
- 3. Chronic renal failure requiring preoperative dialysis;
- 4. Pulmonary and cardiac surgery different pathophysiology, and thoracic surgery typically have strict fluid restriction on type and volume of fluid used;
- 5. Liver resection surgery- strict fluid limits or type and volume of fluids;
- 6. Surgeries lasting less than 2 hours which typically require small amount of fluids, thus making the type of fluid relatively unimportant.

Data Analysis

Because this trial will not be randomized, we will control for observed potential confounding variables using the inverse propensity score weighting method. We will first fit a multivariate logistic regression model with fluid assignment as the outcome variable and all observed confounding variables as the independent variables. From this model we will estimate propensity scores (i.e., probability of receiving lactated Ringer's solution) for each patient. After weighting observations by their respective inverse propensity score, the success of confounding control will be assessed by comparing groups on potentially confounding baseline characteristics (appendix) using absolute standardized difference (ASD), defined

as the absolute difference in means or proportions divided by the pooled standard deviation. Observations in all primary and tertiary analyses below will be weighted by the inverse of the relevant propensity score. In addition, any confounding variable with an ASD greater than the smaller of 0.2 or $1.96 \times \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}$ will be adjusted for in all analyses.

Primary analysis

Because the incidence and severity of the individual major complications vary considerably, we will analyze morbidities in a multivariate (one record per outcome per patient) analysis instead of a collapsed composite approach. A multivariate approach allows us to capture information regarding individual morbidities and the correlation between morbidities.

The average relative effect of lactated Ringer's solution versus saline will be assessed across the five categories of major complications using generalized estimating equations (GEE) 'distinct effects' model with an unstructured working correlation matrix.₅₁ To assess heterogeneity of the fluid effect across components of the primary outcome, we will assess the treatment-by-component interaction in a distinct effects GEE model. We will assess whether the average component-specific treatment effect was equal to zero using an average relative effect test. However, if the baseline incidences are either quite different from each other or if some are very small (say < 1%), will instead use the common effect GEE test. All analyses will adjust for unbalanced potentially confounding baseline characteristics.

Secondary analysis

The economic evaluation will be conducted from the hospital/payer perspective to determine the optimal strategy for economic outcomes between the two interventions. The evaluation will determine the incremental costs between the two interventions; uncomplicated care and care of complications, as well as a combined incremental cost. An example analysis is listed below showing the incremental difference between the interventions for various outcomes for standard care and complications. A cost is assigned to each outcome and a total cost per patient calculated.

Standard Care - Example

	Intervention A	Intervention B	Incremental Dif.	Estimated Cost	Total Cost
LOS	1	0.8	0.2	100	20
Electrolyte Measures	10	8	2	10	20
Electrolyte Replacement	2	1	1	20	20
				Total Cost/pt	60

	Intervention A incidence	Intervention B incidence	Incremental Dif.	Estimated Cost	Total Cost
MI	0.1	0.05	0.05	10,000	500
DVT	0.2	0.1	0.1	1000	100
Pneumonia	0.3	0.2	0.1	2000	200
				Total Cost/pt	800

Using the example results above, results would indicate that using intervention B can save 0.2 days, 2 electrolyte measures and an electrolyte replacement equating to \$60 in savings considering only standard care. Incorporating the potential cost savings from avoiding complications, intervention can reduce the incidence of MI, DVT, and pneumonia equating to a potential cost savings of \$800 per patient. For a hospital performing 1,000 procedures a year, using intervention B would potentially save the hospital \$60,000 in standard care costs and \$800,000 costs from avoiding complications.

Using the methods outlined in the example analysis, the analysis will be performed using the relevant outcomes from the clinical trial. The robustness of the results to changes in variable values will be tested using sensitivity analysis. Sensitivity analysis will include one-way and two-way analyses around the baseline values using the confidence intervals derived from the study. Any values where a confidence interval is unknown including cost variables, a 25% range will be used. Any change in values to which the choice strategy is highly sensitive, further sensitivity analysis will be conducted including threshold analysis.

Tertiary outcomes analysis

We will assess the association between fluids and AKIN classification using a multivariable proportional odds model including propensity score weights and adjusting for unbalanced baseline co-variables as appropriate. If AKIN categories have low incidence, we will combine them and perform a multivariable logistic regression analysis instead.

The association of fluids on blood transfusion will be assessed using separate multivariable Poisson or negative binomial regression models for each transfusion type, as appropriate. We will also assess the association of fluids on plasma electrolytes determination using a multivariable Poisson or negative binomial regression model. The association of fluids with the administration of electrolyte replacement and postoperative nausea and vomiting will be assessed through separate multivariable logistic regression models. All above tertiary analyses will adjust for confounding variables that are unbalanced after propensity score weighting.

We will use an overall alpha of 0.05 for both the primary and secondary/tertiary analyses, using a significance criterion of 0.05 for the primary analysis and 0.006 for each secondary/tertiary analysis (i.e., 0.05/8; Bonferroni correction). SAS Version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and R statistical software version 2.15.3 (R Project for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) will be used for the analyses.

Pilot patients

We will enroll at least 5 pilot patients to test the feasibility of protocol adherence and data collection.

Interim analyses

At each quarter of the maximum enrollment (8,548), we will conduct an interim analysis to assess for efficacy and futility of using lactated Ringer's solution versus saline on our composite of major complications. The interim analysis will use the gamma spending function with parameters -4 for alpha (efficacy) and -1 for beta (futility). Boundaries for efficacy (futility on parentheses) at each stage are $P \le 0.00160$ (P > 0.92646), $P \le 0.00482$ (P > 0.62368), $P \le 0.01472$ (P > 0.2011), and $P \le 0.04404$ (P > 0.04404), respectively.

Sample size

Based on a preliminary query of the PHDS database, we found the incidence of complications among all patients who would have met the inclusion/exclusion criteria for this study:

	No.	Overall	Estimated
Outcome	Missing	Incidence (%)	Saline

		(N = 12,182)	Incidence (%)
In-hospital mortality	0	65 (0.53)	0.59
Renal (AKI classification > 1)	0	213 (1.75)	1.94
Respiratory	90	285 (2.34)	2.60
Infectious	83	2895 (23.76)	26.40
Hematologic	83	311 (2.55)	2.83

This study is designed to have about 90% power at the 0.05 significance level to detect a 20% relative decrease in major complications LR versus saline. We estimated the incidence of complications in the control group (saline) assuming that the two groups average out to the overall incidence. Sample size was calculated assuming a conservative correlation of 0.3 between outcomes. We estimated sample size using the MULTBINPOW SAS macro, which can estimate power for average relative effect GEE models given varying correlations and sample sizes (Mascha EJ Power Calculations for Tests on a Vector of Binary Outcomes (MULTBINPOW).51 Cleveland Clinic Statistical Software Series 10 edn Cleveland: 2011: SAS program uses simulations to compute and display comparative power of several parallel-group multivariate tests for treatment effect on a vector of binary events.52 After accounting for 3 interim analyses and 1 final analysis, we will need to enroll a maximum of 8,548 patients for this study. If the Average Relative Effect analysis proves insufficient, we expect to nonetheless have > 99% power to detect a 20% relative increase in major complications in saline versus LR using either the collapsed composite or common effect GEE methods.

However, it is likely that the study would stop early. The table below provides boundary crossing probabilities for possible true underlying treatment effects: Null (no effect), Alternative (20% relative increase), half-way between the null and alternative, and 1.5 times the alternative effect. If the alternative hypothesis were true, the probability of crossing either the efficacy or futility boundary would be a cumulative 40% and 78% at interim analyses 2 and 3 (see "Alternative" row). Thus, there would be a 40% chance of stopping the study after N = 3,420 patients and 78% chance when N = 6,668 patients were enrolled if the alternative hypothesis is true. With an estimated 6,240 eligible patients available every year, we can expect this study to take a maximum of 1.37 years.

Effect*	Expected	Boundary Crossing Probabilities				
Ellect	Crossing Stage	Interim 1	Interim 2	Interim 3	Final	
Null	2.7	0.08	0.42	0.84	1.0	
Alternative	2.7	0.09	0.40	0.78	1.0	
¹ ⁄ ₂ Null, Alternative	3.0	0.06	0.28	0.63	1.0	
Alt x 1.5	1.9	0.29	0.81	0.98	1.0	

Expected Cumulative Boundary Crossing Probabilities (i.e., boundary crossing probabilities for either efficacy or futility)

* True treatment effect in the population

Internal pilot study

Before the first interim analysis (at approximately 1,000 patients), an internal pilot study for sample size extension may be proposed if the observed incidence of any complication differs considerably from the estimated incidence (i.e., original sample size estimates above fall outside the 95% CI for the estimated internal pilot study incidence). A second stage with new stopping boundaries would be designed with sample size and planned interim analyses to detect a 20% increase in complications based on the revised control group incidence.

Human subjects

The proposed study is primarily for the purpose of quality improvement and cost reduction, although the results may be sufficiently interesting to publish. We will use a non-randomized alternating treatment design in which each fluid regimen will be used for successive 2-week periods in designated physically distinct surgical units.

Evidence and current clinical practice support that crystalloids, both lactated Ringer's and normal saline, are clearly safe; furthermore, both are widely used in perioperative patients. However, each has potential advantages and disadvantages, and potentially different costs of care. We do not propose obtaining informed consent for the proposed quality project since both fluids are widely used in clinical practice and there is currently no compelling reason to believe one is superior to the other.

The project will coincide with another ongoing project "Supplemental Oxygen in Colorectal Surgery: A Quality Improvement Project" in colorectal surgery department in which intraoperative usage of oxygen is prospectively standardized between 2 alternating groups (30% vs. 80%). Surgical site infection is the primary outcome. Some patients in the proposed SOLAR study will also be enrolled in the ongoing study of Supplemental Oxygen.

Although an interaction between fluid choice and oxygen therapy is possible, one seems highly unlikely because the putative mechanisms of each differ. Furthermore, we will stagger group enrollment for this study versus the Oxygen study, starting enrollment in the middle of an Oxygen study 2-week period, so that fluid and oxygen interventions will be fully balanced for those patients whose enrollment overlaps with both studies, as in a factorial-design trial.

Significance

The study we propose will determine whether normal saline or buffered salt solutions are superior for intraoperative vascular volume repletion during major non-cardiac surgery.

References

1. CDC: National Hospital Discharge Survey. CDC.gov, 2010

2. Khuri SF, Henderson WG, DePalma RG, Mosca C, Healey NA, Kumbhani DJ, Participants in the VANSQIP: Determinants of long-term survival after major surgery and the adverse effect of postoperative complications. Ann Surg 2005; 242: 326-41; discussion 341-3

3. Cecconi M, Corredor C, Arulkumaran N, Abuella G, Ball J, Grounds RM, Hamilton M, Rhodes A: Clinical review: Goal-directed therapy-what is the evidence in surgical patients? The effect on different risk groups. Crit Care 2013; 17: 209

4. Pearse R, Dawson D, Fawcett J, Rhodes A, Grounds RM, Bennett ED: Early goal-directed therapy after major surgery reduces complications and duration of hospital stay. A randomised, controlled trial [ISRCTN38797445]. Crit Care 2005; 9: R687-93

5. Perel P, Roberts I, Ker K: Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; 2: CD000567

6. Alderson P, Schierhout G, Roberts I, Bunn F: Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000: CD000567

7. Reinhart K, Takala J: Hydroxyethyl starches: what do we still know? Anesth Analg 2011; 112: 507-11

8. Shaw AD, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Scherer LA, Duan M, Schermer CR, Kellum JA: Major complications, mortality, and resource utilization after open abdominal surgery: 0.9% saline compared to Plasma-Lyte. Ann Surg 2012; 255: 821-9

9. Powell-Tuck JG, P; Lobo, DN: British Consensus Guidelines on Intravenous Fluid Therapy for Adult Surgical Patients (GIFTASUP). London, NHS National Library of Health, 2010

10. Prough DS, Bidani A: Hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis is a predictable consequence of intraoperative infusion of 0.9% saline. Anesthesiology 1999; 90: 1247-9

11. Handy JM, Soni N: Physiological effects of hyperchloraemia and acidosis. Br J Anaesth 2008; 101: 141-50

12. Kellum JA: Fluid resuscitation and hyperchloremic acidosis in experimental sepsis: improved short-term survival and acid-base balance with Hextend compared with saline. Crit Care Med 2002; 30: 300-5

13. Scheingraber S, Rehm M, Sehmisch C, Finsterer U: Rapid saline infusion produces hyperchloremic acidosis in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery. Anesthesiology 1999; 90: 1265-70

14. Guidet B, Soni N, Della Rocca G, Kozek S, Vallet B, Annane D, James M: A balanced view of balanced solutions. Crit Care 2010; 14: 325

15. Liu B, Finfer S: Intravenous fluids in adults undergoing surgery. BMJ 2009; 338: b2418

16. Burdett E, Dushianthan A, Bennett-Guerrero E, Cro S, Gan TJ, Grocott MP, James MF, Mythen MG, O'Malley CM, Roche AM, Rowan K: Perioperative buffered versus non-buffered fluid administration for surgery in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012; 12: Cd004089

17. Todd SR, Malinoski D, Muller PJ, Schreiber MA: Lactated Ringer's is superior to normal saline in the resuscitation of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. J Trauma 2007; 62: 636-9

18. Martini WZ, Cortez DS, Dubick MA: Comparisons of normal saline and lactated Ringer's resuscitation on hemodynamics, metabolic responses, and coagulation in pigs after severe hemorrhagic shock. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2013; 21: 86

19. Watters JM, Brundage SI, Todd SR, Zautke NA, Stefater JA, Lam JC, Muller PJ, Malinoski D, Schreiber MA: Resuscitation with lactated ringer's does not increase inflammatory response in a Swine model of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. Shock 2004; 22: 283-7

20. Zhou F, Peng ZY, Bishop JV, Cove ME, Singbartl K, Kellum JA: Effects of fluid resuscitation with 0.9% saline versus a balanced electrolyte solution on acute kidney injury in a rat model of sepsis^{*}. Crit Care Med 2014; 42: e270-8

21. Yunos NM, Bellomo R, Hegarty C, Story D, Ho L, Bailey M: Association between a chloride-liberal vs chloride-restrictive intravenous fluid administration strategy and kidney injury in critically ill adults. Jama 2012; 308: 1566-72

22. Raghunathan K, Shaw A, Nathanson B, Sturmer T, Brookhart A, Stefan MS, Setoguchi S, Beadles C, Lindenauer PK: Association between the choice of IV crystalloid and in-hospital mortality among critically ill adults with sepsis*. Crit Care Med 2014; 42: 1585-91

23. Park CM, Chun HK, Jeon K, Suh GY, Choi DW, Kim S: Factors related to postoperative metabolic acidosis following major abdominal surgery. ANZ J Surg 2014; 84: 574-80

24. O'Malley CM, Frumento RJ, Hardy MA, Benvenisty AI, Brentjens TE, Mercer JS, Bennett-Guerrero E: A randomized, double-blind comparison of lactated Ringer's solution and 0.9% NaCl during renal transplantation. Anesth Analg 2005; 100: 1518-24, table of contents

25. Waters JH, Gottlieb A, Schoenwald P, Popovich MJ, Sprung J, Nelson DR: Normal saline versus lactated Ringer's solution for intraoperative fluid management in patients undergoing abdominal aortic aneurysm repair: an outcome study. Anesth Analg 2001; 93: 817-22

26. Reid F, Lobo DN, Williams RN, Rowlands BJ, Allison SP: (Ab)normal saline and physiological Hartmann's solution: a randomized double-blind crossover study. Clin Sci (Lond) 2003; 104: 17-24

27. Williams EL, Hildebrand KL, McCormick SA, Bedel MJ: The effect of intravenous lactated Ringer's solution versus 0.9% sodium chloride solution on serum osmolality in human volunteers. Anesth Analg 1999; 88: 999-1003

28. Albert K, van Vlymen J, James P, Parlow J: Ringer's lactate is compatible with the rapid infusion of AS-3 preserved packed red blood cells. Can J Anaesth 2009; 56: 352-6

29. King WH, Patten ED, Bee DE: An in vitro evaluation of ionized calcium levels and clotting in red blood cells diluted with lactated Ringer's solution. Anesthesiology 1988; 68: 115-21

30. Lorenzo M, Davis JW, Negin S, Kaups K, Parks S, Brubaker D, Tyroch A: Can Ringer's lactate be used safely with blood transfusions? Am J Surg 1998; 175: 308-10

31. Khajavi MR, Etezadi F, Moharari RS, Imani F, Meysamie AP, Khashayar P, Najafi A: Effects of normal saline vs. lactated ringer's during renal transplantation. Ren Fail 2008; 30: 535-9

32. Thomas DJ, Alberti KG: Hyperglycaemic effects of Hartmann's solution during surgery in patients with maturity onset diabetes. Br J Anaesth 1978; 50: 185-8
33. Billiodeaux ST, Samuelson CG, Willett O, Arulkumar S, Thomas D. Hamilton

CS, Jain SK, Mosieri C, Fox CJ: Intraoperative and Postoperative Blood Glucose Concentrations in Diabetic Surgical Patients Receiving Lactated Ringer's Versus Normal Saline: A Retrospective Review of Medical Records. Ochsner J 2014; 14: 175-8

34. Shaw AD, Schermer CR, Lobo DN, Munson SH, Khangulov V, Hayashida DK, Kellum JA: Impact of intravenous fluid composition on outcomes in patients with systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Crit Care 2015; 19: 334

Botto F, Alonso-Coello P, Chan MT, Villar JC, Xavier D, Srinathan S, Guyatt G, 35. Cruz P, Graham M, Wang CY, Berwanger O, Pearse RM, Biccard BM, Abraham V, Malaga G, Hillis GS, Rodseth RN, Cook D, Polanczyk CA, Szczeklik W, Sessler DI, Sheth T, Ackland GL, Leuwer M, Garg AX, Lemanach Y, Pettit S, Heels-Ansdell D, Luratibuse G, Walsh M, Sapsford R, Schunemann HJ, Kurz A, Thomas S, Mrkobrada M, Thabane L, Gerstein H, Paniagua P, Nagele P, Raina P, Yusuf S, Devereaux PJ, Devereaux PJ, Sessler DI, Walsh M, Guyatt G, McQueen MJ, Bhandari M, Cook D, Bosch J, Buckley N, Yusuf S, Chow CK, Hillis GS, Halliwell R, Li S, Lee VW, Mooney J, Polanczyk CA, Furtado MV. Berwanger O. Suzumura E. Santucci E. Leite K. Santo IA. Jardim CA. Cavalcanti AB, Guimaraes HP, Jacka MJ, Graham M, McAlister F, McMurtry S, Townsend D, Pannu N, Bagshaw S, Bessissow A, Bhandari M, Duceppe E, Eikelboom J, Ganame J, Hankinson J, Hill S, Jolly S, Lamy A, Ling E, Magloire P, Pare G, Reddy D, Szalay D, Tittley J, Weitz J, Whitlock R, Darvish-Kazim S, Debeer J, Kavsak P, Kearon C, Mizera R, O'Donnell M, McQueen M, Pinthus J, et al.: Myocardial injury after noncardiac surgery: a large, international, prospective cohort study establishing diagnostic criteria, characteristics, predictors, and 30-day outcomes. Anesthesiology 2014; 120: 564-78

36. Writing Committee for the VSI, Devereaux PJ, Biccard BM, Sigamani A, Xavier D, Chan MTV, Srinathan SK, Walsh M, Abraham V, Pearse R, Wang CY, Sessler DI, Kurz A, Szczeklik W, Berwanger O, Villar JC, Malaga G, Garg AX, Chow CK, Ackland G, Patel A, Borges FK, Belley-Cote EP, Duceppe E, Spence J, Tandon V, Williams C, Sapsford RJ, Polanczyk CA, Tiboni M, Alonso-Coello P, Faruqui A, Heels-Ansdell D, Lamy A, Whitlock R, LeManach Y, Roshanov PS, McGillion M, Kavsak P, McQueen MJ, Thabane L, Rodseth RN, Buse GAL, Bhandari M, Garutti I, Jacka MJ, Schunemann HJ,

Cortes OL, Coriat P, Dvirnik N, Botto F, Pettit S, Jaffe AS, Guyatt GH: Association of Postoperative High-Sensitivity Troponin Levels With Myocardial Injury and 30-Day Mortality Among Patients Undergoing Noncardiac Surgery. JAMA 2017; 317: 1642-1651

37. Kopyeva T, Sessler DI, Weiss S, Dalton JE, Mascha EJ, Lee JH, Kiran RP, Udeh B, Kurz A: Effects of volatile anesthetic choice on hospital length-of-stay: a

retrospective study and a prospective trial. Anesthesiology 2013; 119: 61-70 38. Haley RW, Culver DH, Morgan WM, White JW, Emori TG, Hooton TM: Identifying patients at high risk of surgical wound infection: A simple multivariate index of patient susceptibility and wound contamination. Am J Epidemiol 1985; 121: 206-215

39. Culver DH, Horan TC, Gaynes RP, Martone WJ, Jarvis WR, Emori TG, Banerjee SN, Edwards JR, Tolson JS, Henderson TS, et al.: Surgical wound infection rates by wound class, operative procedure, and patient risk index. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System. Am J Med 1991; 91: 152S-157S

40. Horan TC, Gaynes RP, Martone WJ, Jarvis WR, Emori TG: CDC definitions of nosocomial surgical site infections, 1992: a modification of CDC definitions of surgical wound infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1992; 13: 606-8

41. Haley RW, Culver DH, Morgan WM, White JW, Emori TG, Hooton TM: Identifying patients at high risk of surgical wound infection. A simple multivariate index of patient susceptibility and wound contamination. Am J Epidemiol 1985; 121: 206-15

42. Bennett-Guerrero E, Welsby I, Dunn TJ, Young LR, Wahl TA, Diers TL, Phillips-Bute BG, Newman MF, Mythen MG: The use of a postoperative morbidity survey to evaluate patients with prolonged hospitalization after routine, moderaterisk, elective surgery. Anesth Analg 1999; 89: 514-9

43. Wuethrich PY, Burkhard FC, Thalmann GN, Stueber F, Studer UE: Restrictive deferred hydration combined with preemptive norepinephrine infusion during radical cystectomy reduces postoperative complications and hospitalization time: a randomized clinical trial. Anesthesiology 2014; 120: 365-77

44. McKenny M, Conroy P, Wong A, Farren M, Gleeson N, Walsh C, O'Malley C, Dowd N: A randomised prospective trial of intra-operative oesophageal Dopplerguided fluid administration in major gynaecological surgery. Anaesthesia 2013; 68: 1224-31

45. Scheeren TW, Wiesenack C, Gerlach H, Marx G: Goal-directed intraoperative fluid therapy guided by stroke volume and its variation in high-risk surgical patients: a prospective randomized multicentre study. J Clin Monit Comput 2013; 27: 225-33

46. Ricci Z, Cruz D, Ronco C: The RIFLE criteria and mortality in acute kidney injury: A systematic review. Kidney Int 2008; 73: 538-46

47. Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock DG, Levin A, Acute Kidney Injury N: Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. Crit Care 2007; 11: R31

48. Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R, Devarajan P, Johnson C, Karvellas CJ, Kutsiogiannis DJ, Mehta R, Pannu N, Romanovsky A, Sheinfeld G, Taylor S, Zappitelli M, Gibney RT:

[Review article: Acute kidney injury in critical illness]. Can J Anaesth 2010; 57: 985-

98 49. Bastin AJ, Ostermann M, Slack AJ, Diller GP, Finney SJ, Evans TW: Acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery according to Risk/Injury/Failure/Loss/Endstage, Acute Kidney Injury Network, and Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes classifications. J Crit Care 2013; 28: 389-96

50. Chung KK, Stewart IJ, Gisler C, Simmons JW, Aden JK, Tilley MA, Cotant CL, White CE, Wolf SE, Renz EM: The Acute Kidney Injury Network (AKIN) criteria applied in burns. J Burn Care Res 2012; 33: 483-90

51. Mascha EJ, Sessler DI: Statistical grand rounds: design and analysis of studies with binary- event composite endpoints: guidelines for anesthesia research. Anesth Analg 2011; 112: 1461-71

52. Mascha EJ, Imrey PB: Factors affecting power of tests for multiple binary outcomes. Stat Med 2010; 29: 2890-904